IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC92496

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Special Assistant CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0754773 9701 Shore Rd. Apt. 1-D Brooklyn, NY 11209 (718) 748-2332

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL FOR THE SOUTHERN REGION 101 N.E. 3rd Ave. Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Roberts' second motion for post-conviction relief.

The circuit court denied Mr. Roberts' claims following an evidentiary hearing. While this appeal was pending, this Court granted Mr. Roberts' request for a remand to get the facts. In those proceedings in circuit court, new information surfaced that required the filing of a third motion for post-conviction relief. This Court granted a relinquishment of jurisdiction to permit consideration of that motion. The circuit court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the third motion. After permitting written closing arguments, the circuit court granted postconviction relief and ordered a resentencing by a newly impaneled jury. Citations in this brief to designate references to the records, followed by the appropriate page number, are as follows:

"R. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court in first direct appeal;

"PC-R1. ____ - Record on appeal to this Court from denial of the first Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence;

"PC-R2. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court from 1996 summary denial of the second Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence;

"PC-R3. ____" - Record on appeal to this Court from denial of the second Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence following remand by this Court for evidentiary hearing;

"SPC-R3. ____ - Supplemental record on appeal following relinquishment of jurisdiction to consider third Motion to Vacate Judgment and Sentence.

All other citations will be self-explanatory or will

ii

otherwise be explained.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier 12 point not proportionately spaced.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief in a capital case. Even though the death sentence has been vacated, this Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument is necessary given the seriousness of the claims and the issues raised here. Mr. Roberts, through counsel, respectfully urges the Court to permit oral argument.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Page</u>

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Page</u>

INTRODUCTION

Rickey Bernard Roberts was convicted of first degree murder on the basis of the testimony of Michelle Rimondi, who claimed she witnessed the murder, and the testimony of Rhonda Haines, who claimed Mr. Roberts confessed the murder to her. Mr. Roberts testified at his trial and attempted to refute the testimony of both Ms. Rimondi and Ms. Haines. In closing argument, the trial prosecutor acknowledged that the case came down to whom to believe. (R. 2945) ("Ultimately, you have to decide who is lying and what they have to gain or to lose by coming in this courtroom and lying."). After hearing the testimony of Michelle Rimondi, Rhonda Haines, and Rickey Roberts, the jury deliberated twentythree hours over three days before convicting Mr. Roberts.

In his first motion for post-conviction relief, Mr. Roberts presented a <u>Brady</u> claim based upon undisclosed impeachment evidence regarding Ms. Rimondi. Mr. Roberts was denied relief because prejudice was not sufficiently established given Ms. Haines' testimony.

Under the pendency of a death warrant in 1996, Mr. Roberts' counsel located Rhonda Haines, who recanted her trial testimony. Ms. Haines signed an affidavit in which she indicated that her trial testimony was false and was the result of pressure and promises by the State. Mr. Roberts filed his second Rule 3.850 motion in circuit court and attached Ms. Haines' affidavit. Mr. Roberts argued <u>State v. Gunsby</u>, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1996), and <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 514 U.S. 419 (1995), required cumulative

consideration of the Rhonda Haines' affidavit along with the previously presented <u>Brady</u> evidence concerning Michelle Rimondi. <u>See</u> Initial Brief in Case No. 87,438 at 44. At an argument on the motion, the State suggested an immediate evidentiary hearing. Collateral counsel responded that Ms. Haines would have to be subpeonaed so that she could take time from her job and make arrangements for child care. (**T. [2/21/96] 44). As a result, collateral counsel argued that a stay was necessary in order to make the proper arrangements. The circuit court summarily denied the Rule 3.850 motion and the request for a stay.

Mr. Roberts appealed to this Court. Collateral counsel repeated his argument that an evidentiary hearing and stay were required because he did not have the ability to force Ms. Haines to return to Florida and testify: a lawful subpeona would be necessary. Initial Brief in Case No. 87,438, at 7 n. 6. This Court stayed Mr. Roberts' execution, and subsequently issued an opinion remanding for an evidentiary hearing, specifically to determine Ms. Haines' credibility. Roberts v. State, 678 So. 2d 1232 (Fla. 1996). Justice Overton, who provided the fourth vote for remanding for an evidentiary hearing, wrote a separate opinion in which he explained: "Whether that testimony would have affected the outcome of the trial is a factual determination that must be made by the trial judge after an evidentiary hearing at which the recanting witness testifies what was the truth and what was a lie." 678 So. 2d at 1236 (emphasis added).

On remand in the circuit court, Mr. Roberts moved to

disqualify Judge Solomon in light of his testimony in <u>State v.</u> <u>Riechmann</u> indicating he had contacted the State on an ex parte basis in order to have the State prepare an order sentencing Mr. Riechmann to death. (PC-R3. 37). Mr. Roberts' also sought to depose Judge Solomon in order to ascertain whether the judge had followed the same procedure in Mr. Roberts' case. (PC-R3. 50). Judge Solomon denied both motions. (PC-R3. 205). However years later, on April 7, 2000, he did testify that he had in fact followed the same procedure in Mr. Roberts' case that he employed in Mr. Riechmann's case and through ex parte contact he had the State write the order sentencing Mr. Roberts to death.¹

On remand, Mr Roberts also sought a certificate of materiality in order to perfect an out of state subpeona for Ms. Haines, who now resides in California. The request was made pursuant to §942.03(1), Fla. Stat.(1996). The State opposed the request saying that those provisions were not available in postconviction proceedings and that Mr. Roberts had no means of obtaining by compulsory process the presence of Ms. Haines. (PC-R3. 386). The circuit court agreed with the State and refused to issue a certificate of materiality. (PC-R3. 434).

At the hearing on this issue, the prosecuting attorney advised Mr. Roberts' collateral counsel that he intended to

¹On January 12, 2001, a resentencing was ordered in light of Judge Solomon's much delayed testimony revealed that he had followed the same procedure in Mr. Roberts' case that he had employed in <u>State v. Riechmann</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S163 (Fla. Feb. 24, 2000), and <u>Maharaj v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S1097 (Fla. Nov. 30, 2000).

pursue perjury charges against Ms. Haines if she took the stand and testified in conformity with her affidavit. In preparing for the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel spoke to Ms. Haines on a number of occasions in order to prepare her for testifying. In the course of those discussions, collateral counsel advised Ms. Haines of the prosecuting attorney's statement that he intended to charge Ms. Haines with perjury if she took the stand and testified in accordance with her affidavit.² Before calling Ms. Haines as a witness, collateral counsel needed to know how

When I told Your Honor, and what no subpeona from California or any othercourt is going to protect her from, is from committing perjury on the witness stand in this courtroom when she testifies today or sometime in the future.

That perjury will be prosecuted to the fullest extent of the law. And no subpeona from California, from Florida, or any place else is going to protect her from committing perjury.

Now past perjury is a dead issue. Nobody has ever threatened to prosecute her for that, nor could we ever do so. Because, the statute of limitations and -like I said, because we believe it to be truthful testimony.

But when she gets up on the stand and lies today, by all means, she will be subject to perjury. So, the issue of the subpeona is a total red herring.

(PC-R3. 601).

Of course, if the question of a subpeona was a red herring, then why did the State oppose issuing a certificate of materiality so that a subpeona could be issued? The State did offer to provide Ms. Haines with a Florida subpeona which of course was of no use in compelling Ms. Haines to travel from California. (PC-R3. 602).

²Joel Rosenblatt, Assistant State Attorney, repeated his intentions at the commencement of the evidentiary hearing on July 16, 1997:

Ms. Haines would respond to that line of cross-examination and whether, in the face of the prosecutor's threat to prosecute, Ms. Haines would maintain that her affidavit was true. And in fact, Ms. Haines did maintain that her affidavit was true, but indicated that she would not come to Florida without a binding subpeona in light of the threat of prosecution. (PC-R3. 603). As a result, Mr. Roberts was unable to compel Ms. Haines' presence at the evidentiary hearing. The evidentiary hearing was conducted before Judge Solomon without the presence of Ms. Haines, the one witness who Justice Overton had indicated was mandatory.

From the denial of relief following the hearing conducted without Ms. Haines, Mr. Roberts has perfected this appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

a. Procedural History

On June 6, 1984, Mr. Roberts was arrested on first degree murder charges. On June 21, 1984, a Dade County Grand Jury indicted Mr. Roberts for the first degree murder of George Napoles, sexual battery of Michelle Rimondi, and two counts of robbery and kidnapping of Michell Rimondi. (R. 1). On June 26, 1984, Mr. Roberts pled not guilty.

Mr. Roberts was provided court appointed counsel. Before trial, there were a number of changes in counsel due to conflicts and scheduling problems. (PC-R3. 4-7). Thomas Scott was appointed as counsel for Mr. Roberts on July 13, 1984. (PC-R3. 5). He remained counsel until January 30, 1985, when three days

before the then scheduled trial he was forced to withdraw due to conflict arising over the State's last minute disclosure that it had secured inculpatory evidence from Rhonda Haines. (R. 105).³

Subsequently, Kenneth Lange was appointed to represent Mr. Roberts. (PC-R3. 5). On October 18, 1985, Mr. Lange deposed Ms. Haines. During this deposition, she revealed that she had eleven outstanding arrest warrants for prostitution in Broward County. (PC-R3. 706).⁴

Mr. Roberts was tried before a Dade County jury in December of 1985. Michelle Rimondi and Rhonda Haines were among the

Interestingly, Mr. Rabin was called at the July 1997 evidentiary hearing by the State. Mr. Rabin testified in crossexamination concerning his contact with Ms. Haines in late 1984: "Q. Do you recall ever having her address? A. Again, I don't have an independent recollection of it, but if she left the State of Florida and she is somebody that we wanted to have on the witness list, we certainly would have her address." (PC-R3. 685). He later elaborated: "I don't have any recollection, but as I told you if the State intended on using her as a witness, the State would have kept track where she was." (PC-R3. 687).

⁴This is according to the testimony of Bill Howell at the 1997 evidentiary hearing.

³On December 31, 1984, a subpeona was issued by the State for Ms. Haines to appear at Mr. Roberts' trial set for January 28, 1985. On January 25, 1985, prosecutor Rabin first disclosed to the defense that Ms. Haines would testify as to a statement Mr. Roberts supposedly made to Ms. Haines. However, Rule 3.220(a)(1)(iii) provided in 1985 that the prosecutor was required to disclose within fifteen days of a demand "the substance of any oral statements made by the accused. . .together with the name and address of each witness to the statements." Obviously, the Rule was violated; however, Mr. Roberts was given a continuance because his trial lawyer, Thomas Scott, was forced to withdraw because of a conflict arising from this late disclosure. But the record also reveals that: "When defense counsel inquired of the State as to whether the Government could advise where Rhonda Haines was located, the State announced it did not know, that she calls in weekly from an unknown place." (R. 101).

witnesses called by the State. (Rimondi testimony R. 2120-2360) (Haines testimony R. 2368-2467). Mr. Roberts testified in his own behalf. (Roberts testimony R. 2744-2872). In his closing argument, the prosecutor acknowledged that the case was one of credibility: "Ultimately, you have to decide who is lying and what they have to gain or lose by coming in this courtroom and lying." (R. 2945). Once the case had been submitted to the jury, deliberations dragged on. After a considerable passage of time, the jury requested a jury view (R. 3194). Shortly after the jury view, a guilty verdict was returned. All tolled the jury deliberated for twenty three (23) hours over three days before returning a verdict of guilty of first-degree murder, sexual battery, and kidnapping (R. 3206).

In the penalty phase of the trial, mental health experts were called and testified to mental health mitigation. During the penalty phase proceedings, Judge Solomon revealed that he had taken it upon himself to telphone the Director of the Patuxent Coerrectional Institution where Mr. Roberts had previously been incarcerated and discuss Mr. Roberts with the Director. (R. 3356). No record was made of this ex parte conversation.

The court instructed the jury on several aggravating circumstances. The jury was also instructed regarding the statutory mental health mitigating factors. The jury, by a vote of seven to five (7-5), recommended that Mr. Roberts be sentenced to death for the first-degree murder conviction.

At the December 31, 1985, sentencing hearing, Judge Solomon

allowed the State to present additional evidence. Without objection, the State called the Miami Police Department's lead investigator and presented testimony that he had investigated many homicides in fifteen years, but Mr. Roberts' case was one of the few he believed death was appropriate. (R. 3511). Without objection, the State then called a member of the victim's family to testify that the family "feel[s] that the death penalty is necessary." (R. 3513).

Judge Solomon then listened to Mr. Lange's arguments on Mr. Roberts' behalf seeking a life sentence and Mr. Roberts' personal plea for a life sentence. (R. 3537-40). Judge Solomon without breaking to consider either the arguments or Mr. Roberts' plea for mercy announced he was imposing a sentence of death. Judge Solomon did not make any oral findings as to the aggravating and mitigating factors. He simply indicated on the record that he was signing written findings in support of the death sentence which he was placing in the record. (R. 3541). "They are being placed in the Court records for purposes of appeal. I'm dating it December 31st, 1985, and I'm signing it." Obviously, these lengthy findings had been prepared in advanced of the sentencing hearing. Mr. Lange, defense counsel, was led to believe that the findings of fact in support of the death sentence had been prepared by Judge Solomon. (See Lange testimony of October 20, 2000 **).5

⁵On April 7, 2000, Judge Solomon testified that he had contacted the State on an ex parte basis and asked that an order sentencing Mr. Roberts to death be prepared for his signature.

According to the written findings, the aggravating circumstances found were as follows: (1) Mr. Roberts has previously been convicted of a violent felony; (2) Mr. Roberts was under sentence of imprisonment; (3) the murder was committed while Mr. Roberts was engaged in the crime of sexual battery (this aggravator was entirely dependent upon Ms. Rimondi's claim that she was raped); and (4) it was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel (this aggravator was dependent upon the testimony of both Ms. Rimondi and Ms. Haines).

On direct appeal, Mr. Roberts' conviction and sentence of death were affirmed. <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 510 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1987). On September 28, 1989, while a death warrant was pending, Mr. Roberts timely filed his Rule 3.850 motion. On October 19, 1989, Mr. Roberts supplemented his motion to vacate and included specific <u>Brady</u> allegations regarding the failure to disclose evidence which impeached Michelle Rimondi. On October 25, 1989, the state circuit court ruled that Mr. Roberts' supplementation was proper, but concluded that the motion to vacate should be summarily denied. A notice of appeal was promptly filed. This Court entered a stay of execution. Following briefing and argument, this Court affirmed the summary denial of Rule 3.850 relief, finding as to the <u>Brady</u> claim that Mr. Roberts had failed

⁽SPC-R3. **). Judge Solomon acknowledged that he had in fact followed the same procedure he used in <u>State v. Riechmann</u>. Prior to April 7, 2000, Judge Solomon had not disclosed this fact to Mr. Roberts' or his counsel, despite Mr. Roberts' request to depose Judge Solomon in order to find out whether Judge Solomon had followed the same procedure he had employed in <u>Riechmann</u>.

to show prejudice given the other evidence of guilt. <u>Roberts v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Roberts filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the federal court. The federal district court conducted an evidentiary hearing and thereafter denied relief. <u>Roberts v.</u> <u>Singletary</u>, 794 F.Supp. 1106 (S.D.Fla. 1992).

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed. <u>Roberts v.</u> <u>Singletary</u>, 29 F.3d 1474 (11th Cir. 1994). As the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit noted in Mr. Roberts' case, Ms. Rimondi underwent an effective "tenacious crossexamination" -- so effective that the court found that "further impeachment of Rimondi with any inconsistent statements would not have changed the outcome of the trial." <u>Roberts v. Singletary</u>, 29 F.3d 1474, 1478-79 (11th Cir. 1994). In doing so, the Eleventh Circuit relied upon Mr. "Roberts' girlfriend [who] testified that Roberts told her he killed a man." <u>Id</u>.

On January 25, 1996, Governor Chiles signed a warrant setting Mr. Roberts' execution for the week of February 22, 1996. The prison scheduled the execution for 7:00 a.m., February 23, 1996.

On February 20, 1996, Mr. Roberts filed his second Rule 3.850 motion in circuit court. In this motion, Mr. Roberts presented a <u>Brady</u> claim based upon a newly executed affidavit of Rhonda Haines in which she swore that her trial testimony was false and a product of pressure and promises from the State. Mr. Roberts argued that this affidavit established both a <u>Brady</u> claim

(consideration given Ms. Haines for testimony was not disclosed to Mr. Roberts' counsel) and a claim under Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). Mr. Roberts sought a new trial on the basis of Ms. Haines' affidavit and argued cumulative consideration of the previously presented Brady claim was required under Gunsby and Kyles v. Whitley, 115 S.Ct, 1555 (**T. [2/21/96] 40-43). Argument on the motion was (1995).heard on February 21, 1996. During the argument, the State conceded an evidentiary hearing, but only if it could be held under warrant. Collateral counsel responded that he would need the court's assistance in obtaining Ms. Haines' presence since she would need a subpeona. (**T. [2/21/96] 34, 44). At the conclusion of the arguments of counsel, the circuit summarily denied all relief. Mr. Roberts perfected an appeal to this Court.

This Court ordered expedited briefing and had heard oral argument on the appeal. Thereafter, a stay of execution was entered. Subsequently, this Court reversed and remanded for an evidentiary hearing. <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 678 So. 2d 1232 (Fla. 1996).

On June 13, 1996, while Mr. Roberts' case was still pending in this Court on a motion for rehearing (which was not denied until September 4, 1996), the State filed ex parte a motion for an order authorizing travel expenses so that an assistant state attorney and a state attorney investigator could travel to Los Angeles and interview Rhonda Haines and travel to Phoenix to

interview her mother. (PC-R3. 36). The authorization was obtained in an ex parte proceeding before Judge Platzer.

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