## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC92496

RICKEY BERNARD ROBERTS,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5654

#

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

### IV. ANY ISSUE REGARDING THE DISQUALIFICATION OF ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY BILL HOWELL IS UNPRESERVED AND MERITLESS.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court should have disqualified Assistant State Attorney Howell from acting as counsel for the State because he served as a witness and allegedly engaged in ex parte communications. However, this issue is unpreserved and without merit.

In the lower court, Defendant never moved to disqualify Howell. In fact, the only objection raised by Defendant below to Howell's participation was when he invoked the rule at the beginning of the evidentiary hearing on the second motion for post conviction relief. (PCR3. 466) Even at that time, Defendant only sought to prevent Howell from testifying and did not seek his disqualification. (PCR3. 466-73) As Defendant did not move to disqualify Howell in the lower court, this issue is not preserved. Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

Even if the issue had been preserved, the lower court would still have properly refused to disqualify Howell. In order to disqualify a prosecutor, a defendant must show that he was actually prejudiced by the participation of the prosecutor. Farina v. State, 680 So. 2d 392, 395-96 (Fla. 1996) (showing of actual prejudice required to disqualify State Attorney, where prosecutor committed misconduct in having case assigned to division of particular judge in contravention of administrative order); Farina

v. State, 679 So. 2d 1151, 1157 (Fla. 1996) (same); State v. Clausell, 474 So. 2d 1189 (Fla. 1985) (showing of actual prejudice required); Nunez v. State, 665 So. 2d 301, 302 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); State v. Christopher, 623 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 1993) (same); Fernandez v. State, 555 So. 2d 437, 438 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) (same); Meggs v. McClure, 538 So. 2d 518 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (same). than the mere appearance prejudice is 'something more impropriety." Farina, 680 So. 2d at 395. An appellate court reviews a lower court's decision on a motion to disqualify an attorney under an abuse of discretion standard, and the factual findings underlying the ruling can only be overturned if they are not supported by competent substantial evidence. See Shultz v. Shultz, 783 So. 2d 329, 330 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001); Stewart v. Bee-Dee Neon & Signs, Inc., 751 So. 2d 196, 205 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

With regard to the allegation that Howell should have been disqualified because he acted both as a witness and an advocate for the State, this contention is without merit. In Scott v. State, 717 So. 2d 908, 910-11 (Fla. 1998), this Court rejected a similar claim. In Scott, the defendant sought to disqualify the original trial prosecutor from acting as counsel for the State at a post conviction hearing on a Brady claim. The defendant asserted that the prosecutor would violate R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.7 by acting as an advocate and being called as a witness in the post conviction proceedings.

On appeal, this Court rejected the claim that the lower court had erred by denying the motion to disqualify. This Court stated that the purpose underlying the witness/advocate rule was to prevent an attorney from acting as a witness for his own client because the dual role could prejudice the opposing party and could create a conflict of interest with the client. Id. at 910. This Court noted that the prejudice to the opposing party could occur because a jury might give undue weight to the attorney's testimony or might become confused regarding what was argument and what was testimony. Id. at 910 n.9. This Court stated that a conflict might arise because the attorney's testimony and the client's testimony were in conflict. Id. at 910 n.10. This Court held that "these concerns [were] not implicated in the present case where the state attorney was called as a witness for the other side on a Brady claim in a postconviction evidentiary hearing before a judge." Id. at 910 (emphasis in original). This Court added that "[t]o hold otherwise would bar many trial level prosecutors -- who may be the most qualified advocates for the State -- from representing the State in a Brady claim in a subsequent postconviction evidentiary hearing." Id. at 910-11.

As was true in *Scott*, Howell was called as a witness by Defendant at the evidentiary hearing on the second post conviction motion. (PCR3. 574) His testimony at this hearing concerned allegations that the State had committed *Brady* and *Giglio* 

violations. (PCR3. 574-584) Defendant again called Howell at the remand hearing on "his motion to get facts," and again Howell's testimony concerned alleged improprieties by the State. (PCR3. 115-22) The only time that Howell was called to testify for the State was at the evidentiary hearing on the third motion for post conviction relief. (PCR3-SR. 454-57) However, this testimony was substantially the same as the testimony Defendant elicited from him at the evidentiary hearing on the "motion to get facts." (PCR3-SR. 121-22) Moreover, Howell was the only prosecutor who had been assigned to the case at the time of trial who was still employed by the State Attorney's Office at the time of these hearings. As such, the trial court would not have abused its discretion in denying a motion to disqualify Howell under Scott had Defendant made one. This Court should affirm.

With regard to the claim that Howell should be disqualified for allegedly engaging in ex parte communications with Judge Platzer, as argued in Issue III, supra, this claim is meritless. Moreover, Defendant has not demonstrated actual prejudice from Howell's participation. As such, this issue is meritless. Farina v. State, 680 So. 2d 392, 395-96 (Fla. 1996) (showing of actual prejudice required to disqualify State Attorney, where prosecutor

Moreover, Defendant would be hard pressed to complain about Howell's actions at that point, as Defendant had already called his own counsel to testify on his own behalf at that hearing. (PCR3-SR. 412-22)

committed misconduct in having case assigned to division of particular judge in contravention of administrative order); Farina v. State, 679 So. 2d 1151, 1157 (Fla. 1996)(same)

## V. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF BECAUSE OF ANY CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THIS CLAIM AND PRIOR CLAIMS.

Defendant next asserts that the lower court erred in denying his second motion for post conviction relief because the lower court did not conduct a proper cumulative error analysis. However, where the alleged errors are either procedurally barred or without merit, a defendant is not entitled to relief by alleging cumulative error. Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 509 n.5 (Fla. 1999). As the lower court properly determined that the new claims were without merit and the prior claims upon which Defendant relies were also found to be procedurally barred or without merit, this claim was properly denied.

While Defendant asserts that he is entitled to relief based upon the cumulative effect of the claim of Haines' recantation with all of the other claims he has previously raised, the lower court found the claim of Haines' recantation was meritless. This finding was proper. To prove a claim of newly discovered evidence, a defendant must show that the evidence was unknown to defendant, his counsel or the court at the time of trial, that it could not have been learned through the exercise of due diligence, and that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915-16 (Fla. 1991). In determining whether the evidence would probably produce an acquittal on retrial, the court must consider whether the evidence is credible. See Jones v.

State, 709 So. 2d 512, 521-22 (Fla. 1998); Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1251 (Fla. 1997); Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369, 376 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1131 (1995). A lower court's findings in this regard will not be overturned so long as they are supported by competent substantial evidence. Melendez v. State, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998); Blanco, 702 So. 2d at 1252. Moreover, in a successive motion for post conviction relief, the defendant must show that the claim was presented within one year of when the evidence could have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence. Mills v. State, 684 So. 2d 801, 804-05 (Fla. 1996) (Defendant's second 3.850 must show "that the motion was filed within one year of the discovery of evidence upon which avoidance of the time limit was based."); Bolender v. State, 658 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 1995) (same).

Here, the lower court found that Defendant had not proved that his claim was presented within one year of when this claim based on Haines' recantation could have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence. This finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence and should be affirmed. Melendez; Blanco. Defendant presented no evidence at the evidentiary hearing regarding what efforts had been made to locate Haines before 1996. Defendant did not call his investigators or explain why he could not do so. As such, the lower court properly found that Defendant had not proved that the claim was presented within one year of when

it could have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence. As this claim was properly rejected as meritless, there was no need to consider its cumulative effect. *Downs*. Thus, the lower court should be affirmed.

The trial court also rejected this claim, finding that Haines was not a credible witness. Again, this finding is supported by competent, substantial evidence and should be affirmed. *Melendez*; *Blanco*. The lower court found:

Even if the recantation affidavit is deemed to be newly discovered evidence, the defendant did not produce the recanting witness, and, contrary to his previous representations, allegations and presented to establish the corroborating or other evidence trustworthiness of the newly discovered evidence. See, Roberts v. State, 678 So. 2d 1232, 1235 (Fla. 1996), citing Johnson v. Singletary, 647 So. 2d 106, 111 (Fla. 1994), <u>Walden v. State</u>, 284 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 3d DCA, The State, however, did present testimony and evidence refuting the recanting witness's statements. In light of the evidence presented, this Court finds the recanting witness's assertions are not credible.

As noted by the Florida Supreme Court, at the trial of this cause, Ms. Haines testified that the defendant had confessed to killing the victim, and that no promises or threats prompted her trial testimony. Ms. Haines' 1996 affidavit states that the defendant did not confess to her. According to this affidavit, one of the prosecuting attorneys, Mr. Rabin, pressured Haines for a "better" story, suggested facts which she adopted as her trial testimony, and promised to have Haines' outstanding prostitution charges in Broward County "disappear" in return for such testimony. Roberts v. State, 678 So. 2d at 1235.

State witness Wasserman, at the evidentiary hearing, however, presented testimony and documentary evidence which established that the only charges in Broward County, pending against Ms. Haines during the 1984-1985 period (at the time of commission, investigation and trial of the defendant's crimes), were resolved in 1988,

three (3) years after completion of the defendant's trial. Contrary to Ms. Haines' affidavit, these charges did not "disappear"; instead, Haines pled guilty to these charges in 1988 and received a sentence of time served. Apart from said documentary evidence, the accused prosecutor, Mr. Rabin, also testified that he left the State Attorney's Office and entered private practice in February, 1985, approximately 10 months prior to the commencement of defendant's trial. Mr. Rabin testified that he did not and could not have interceded on Haines' behalf with in Broward County as to her pending charges. Mr. Rabin further stated that he had never asked Ms. Haines to "tailor" her testimony, nor had he ever threatened or promised Haines anything in any effort to get her to alter her statements. The remaining prosecutors in this case, Messrs. Glick and Howell, who actually conducted the trial, likewise testified that when they became aware of Haines' pending charges in Broward County, they decided to do nothing with respect to said charges. As noted by Mr. Howell, the defense at trial took full advantage of that decision, by repeatedly informing the jury that despite pending charges, Haines had been traveling back and forth to Arizona without anyone informing the Broward officials of her presence in Florida.

The Court finds the above stated evidence presented by the State to be credible. Said evidence directly refutes many of the allegation in Ms. Haines' current affidavit, and the lack of any corroborating evidence presented by the defense at the evidentiary hearing, this Court finds Ms. Haines's recantation of her trial testimony to be unreliable and not credible.

(PCR3. 752-55) These findings are amply supported by the testimony of Wasserman, Howell, Glick and Rabin. (PCR3. 491-573, 575-84) As such, they should be affirmed. *Melendez; Blanco*.

Defendant asserts that these findings are flawed because the fact that only two pending charges were found allegedly shows that Haines was telling the truth that Rabin had made her charges "disappear." However, Defendant presented no evidence that these charges ever really existed. Howell's testimony was that he first

learned of the 11 alleged charges when Haines claimed that they existed during her deposition. (PCR3. 584) He stated that he had not taken any action about these charges. (PCR3. 584) Moreover, the evidence showed that the State had checked the criminal histories of its witnesses at the time of trial. (PCR3. 548-52) As the State only learned of these alleged charges at Haines' deposition, this evidence shows that the charges never did exist and does not enhance Haines' credibility. As such, the lower court properly denied this claim, and there was no reason to conduct a cumulative error analysis. *Downs*. The lower court should be affirmed.

Even if the lower court had found merit to this claim, it still would not have improperly determined the alleged cumulative effects of his prior claims. These claims had been found to be procedurally barred and meritless and thus, would not have contributed to a cumulative error analysis. *Downs*.

Defendant first asserts that the Eleventh Circuit had previously rejected a Brady claim regarding Rimondi because of Haines' testimony. However, this is not true. The claim was not a Brady claim; instead, it concerned the assertion of the rape counselor/sexual assault victim privilege regarding Rimondi. Roberts v. Singletary, 29 F.3d 1474, 1477-79 (11th Cir. 1994); Roberts v. Singletary, 794 F. Supp. 1106, 1122-24 (S.D. Fla. 1992). This claim was found to be procedurally barred. Id. As such, this

claim would not have added to a cumulative error analysis. Downs.

Defendant next relies upon an allegation that Rimondi was a prostitute and had received assistance from the State regarding pending charges against her. However, this information was known at the time of trial and did not support a Brady claim. Moreover, this fact was excluded under the Rape Shield Law, and that exclusion has been repeatedly found to be proper. Roberts, 794 F. Supp. at 1113-17; Roberts v. State, 568 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 1990); Roberts v. State, 510 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1987). The information regarding the pending charges was excluded at the time of trial, and this ruling has again been upheld or found to be procedurally barred. Roberts, 794 F. Supp. at 1121; Roberts, 568 So. 2d at 1257-58, 1261. As such, these claims would not have supported a cumulative error analysis. Downs.

Defendant next relies upon the fact that Rimondi was given money by the State. However, this claim was rejected as an ineffectiveness claim by the federal courts because the payments were nothing more than the payment of per diem expenses for a witness. *Roberts*, 794 F. Supp. at 1121. As such, this claim does not support a cumulative error analysis. *Downs*.

Defendant also relies upon a statement by Dr. Rao that she did not finding Rimondi's statement that she was raped to be credible. However, one witness is not permitted to comment on the credibility of another. See Feller v. State, 637 So. 2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1994).

As such, this statement would not support a *Brady* claim. *Wood v. Bartholomew*, 516 U.S. 1 (1995) (inadmissible facts do not support a *Brady* claim). As such, this claim was properly denied as meritless and does not support a cumulative error analysis. *Downs*.

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